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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

Civil Division  

THE CALIFORNIA VALLEY MIWOK 
TRIBE,  
11178 Sheep Ranch Road 
Mountain Ranch, CA 95246 
 
THE TRIBAL COUNCIL,  
11178 Sheep Ranch Road 
Mountain Ranch, CA  95246 
 
YAKIMA DIXIE, 
11178 Sheep Ranch Road 
Mountain Ranch, CA  95246 
 
VELMA WHITEBEAR, 
213 Downing Drive 
Galt, CA  95632 
 
ANTONIA LOPEZ,  
P.O. Box 1432 
Jackson, CA  95642 
 
MICHAEL MENDIBLES,  
P.O. Box 266 
West Point, CA  95255 
 
EVELYN WILSON, 
4104 Blagen Blvd. 
West Point, CA  95255 
 
ANTONE AZEVEDO, 
4001 Carriebee Ct. 
North Highlands, CA  95660 
 

v. 
 
KEN SALAZAR, in his official capacity as 
Secretary of the United States Department of the 
Interior,  
United States Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20240 

LARRY ECHO HAWK, in his official capacity as 
Assistant Secretary-Indian Affairs of the United 
States Department of the Interior,  
Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street, N.W. 
Washington DC 20240 

MICHAEL BLACK, in his official capacity as 
Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs within the 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Case No. 1:11-cv-00160-RWR 
 
Hon. Richard W. Roberts 
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United States Department of the Interior, 
Bureau of Indian Affairs 
MS-4606 
1849 C Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20240 

Defendants. 

 
 
PLAINTIFFS' FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE 

RELIEF 

Plaintiffs ask the Court to vacate an erroneous decision of the Assistant Secretary – Indian 

Affairs for the United States Department of the Interior ("Department") that arbitrarily limits the 

membership of a federally recognized Indian tribe to five people and disenfranchises 242 adult 

members of the tribe plus their children, without due process and in violation of the Department's trust 

responsibilities to Indian tribes and their members.  Because the decision knowingly recognizes a 

tribal government based on a tribal document adopted without the knowledge, participation or consent 

of the vast majority of the tribe's members, it violates federal law and must be reversed. 

Plaintiffs Yakima Dixie, the California Valley Miwok Tribe ("Tribe"), and Tribe members 

Velma Whitebear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antone Azevedo, 

individually and as members of the Tribal Council ("Council"), therefore submit this First Amended 

Complaint against the Defendants, Ken Salazar, Secretary of the Department, Larry Echo Hawk, 

Assistant Secretary– Indian Affairs ("AS-IA") of the Department, and Michael Black, Director of the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs ("BIA") within the Department, and state and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

1. The Tribe is a federally recognized Indian tribe that was recognized around 1915 when 

the United States purchased the Sheep Ranch Rancheria for the benefit of a small band of Miwok 

Indians living near Sheep Ranch, California.  Today the Tribe has approximately 242 adult members, 
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and approximately 350 members under the age of 18, who are lineal descendants of the original 1915 

members.   

2. In 1935, the Tribe voted to accept the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934 ("IRA"), 

which allowed tribes to assume the responsibility of self-government by adopting governing 

documents and establishing a tribal government.  The process of creating a tribal government is known 

as "organization," or sometimes "reorganization."  For tribes that have accepted the IRA, organization 

must comply with the substantive and procedural requirements of the IRA.   

3. Despite accepting the IRA, the Tribe has never organized itself.  For many years its 

members maintained only an informal Tribal community, although many lived on the Rancheria at 

various times or in the surrounding area and maintained familial and community ties. 

4. In 1998, at the BIA's urging, a woman named Silvia Burley approached Yakima Dixie, 

whom the BIA recognized as a Tribal spokesperson at that time.  Ms. Burley, a resident of a 

neighboring Indian community, asked to be enrolled into the Tribe along with her two daughters and 

her granddaughter (collectively, the "Burleys").  The BIA erroneously told Mr. Dixie that he had the 

authority to enroll the Burleys into the Tribe, and he agreed to do so.  The BIA thereafter treated the 

Burleys as Tribal members, although their enrollment was invalid without Tribal consent.   

5. Around September 1998, Mr. Dixie and Ms. Burley began discussions with the BIA 

about organizing the Tribe.  The BIA erroneously told Mr. Dixie that the people entitled to participate 

in the initial organization of the Tribe were determined by a plan for distribution of tribal assets that 

had been approved in 1966 as part of an unsuccessful attempt to “terminate” the Tribe under the 

California Rancheria Act.  The BIA concluded that these people included Mr. Dixie, his brother 

Melvin Dixie, and the Burleys (by virtue of their purported enrollment), and that those individuals 

were entitled to decide who else might participate in Tribal organization.  This conclusion was and is 

incorrect. 
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6. Contrary to the BIA’s conclusion, all lineal descendants of the Tribe's original members 

(circa 1915) were members of the Tribe in 1998 and were entitled to participate in any organization 

effort.  Of the Tribe’s current members, at least 83 were alive and over the age of 18 in 1998 and were 

entitled to participate in any organization of the Tribe (the “1998 Adult Members”).  Other, now-

deceased members were also alive in 1998 and entitled to participate. 

7. The BIA suggested to Mr. Dixie that the Tribe form a general council as an interim step 

in order to manage itself until it had adopted a constitution and completed the organization process as 

defined in the IRA.  A general council is a form of government consisting of all of a tribe’s members.  

The BIA supplied a resolution purporting to create such a general council, and Mr. Dixie and Ms. 

Burley signed the resolution on November 5, 1998 (the "1998 Resolution").  The adoption of the 1998 

Resolution was invalid.  

8. The Tribe never completed the organization process that the 1998 Resolution was 

intended to facilitate.  A dispute erupted between Ms. Burley and Mr. Dixie over control of the 

organization process, with both sides pursuing organization under separate documents.   

9. The BIA rejected constitutions that Ms. Burley submitted in the name of the Tribe in 

1999, 2000, 2001 and 2004, which essentially would have limited Tribal membership to Mr. Dixie, the 

Burleys and their descendants.  The BIA, reversing the erroneous advice it provided Mr. Dixie in 

1999, informed Ms. Burley that organization must involve the entire Tribal community, and it 

identified a number of other people who must be allowed to participate, including the lineal 

descendants of historical Tribe members.  Ms. Burley responded by filing a series of administrative 

appeals and federal court challenges seeking to compel the BIA to recognize the Tribe as organized 

under her constitution and with her as its leader.   

10. Ms. Burley's appeals culminated in a 2006 decision by the federal district court for the 

District of Columbia, which upheld the BIA's rejection of Ms. Burley's 2004 constitution.  The court 
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held that the IRA imposes fundamental requirements on tribal organization, including notice, a defined 

process, and minimum levels of participation.  California Valley Miwok Tribe v. United States, 424 

F.Supp.2d 197 (D.D.C. Mar. 31, 2006).  The federal government argued that the BIA has a "duty to 

ensure that the interests of all tribe members are protected during organization and that governing 

documents reflect the will of a majority of the Tribe's members," and the court agreed.  Because the 

BIA estimated that the Tribal community entitled to participate in organization "may exceed 250 

members," while Ms. Burley had involved only herself and her daughters, rejection of the Burley 

constitution was consistent with the BIA's duty.   

11. The Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit affirmed in a published 

opinion, holding that, "Although [the Tribe], by its own admission, has a potential membership of 250, 

only Burley and her small group of supporters had a hand in adopting her proposed constitution.  This 

antimajoritarian gambit deserves no stamp of approval from the Secretary."  California Valley Miwok 

Tribe v. United States, 515 F.3d 1262, 1267 (D.C. Cir. 2008). 

12. Following the district court's decision, in 2006, the BIA attempted to assist the Tribe in 

identifying its entire membership by asking descendents of the 1915 members to submit genealogies 

showing their status as lineal descendants of historical Tribe members.  Once the lineal descendants 

were identified, the BIA planned to arrange a meeting so the members could proceed with Tribal 

organization if they wished to do so.  Ms. Burley filed administrative appeals, essentially attempting to 

re-litigate her previous position that the Tribe was already organized under her leadership.  Those 

appeals eventually led to a decision on August 31, 2011 by the AS-IA (Exhibit "A") (the "August 31 

Decision").   

13. In the August 31 Decision, the AS-IA found, without any explanation or support, that 

the membership of the Tribe is limited to five people.  In doing so, he ignored the overwhelming 
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evidence before him that the Tribe's membership currently includes 242 adult members and their 

children, who are lineal descendants of historical Tribe members. 

14. In the August 31 Decision, the AS-IA found that those five people had established a 

valid Tribal government under the 1998 Resolution.  The 1998 Resolution was void ab initio as a 

Tribal action and could not be a valid governing document because it was adopted without notice to, 

or consent of, a vast majority of the Tribe and did not comply with the IRA. 

15. In the August 31 Decision, the AS-IA explicitly repudiated and failed to carry out the 

BIA's duty to ensure that the interests of all Tribal members are protected during organization, and that 

the governing documents for the Tribe reflect the will of a majority of the members, as required by the 

IRA and binding decisional law of this Circuit.  The AS-IA has no authority to do so. 

16. The August 31 Decision cedes complete control of the Tribe to the Burleys and 

deprives Plaintiffs and the Tribe's other members of fundamental rights in violation of the U.S. 

Constitution, the Indian Civil Rights Act, the IRA, the Department's trust responsibility to the Tribe 

and its members, and other federal laws.   

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because the 

asserted claims arise under the Constitution and laws of the United States.   

18. This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1361 in that the 

Tribe seeks to compel officers and employees of the United States and its agencies to perform duties 

owed to the Tribe. 

19. This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1362 because 

the Tribe is an Indian tribe duly recognized by the Secretary of the Interior, and the matter in 

controversy arises under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States.  
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20. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because the Secretary, the AS-

IA, the Director of the BIA, and the Department are located in this district. 

21. Judicial review of the agency action is authorized by the Administrative Procedure Act 

("APA"), 5 U.S.C. §§ 702, 704 and 706.  The AS-IA's decision is final agency action under the APA 

and 25 C.F.R. § 2.6(c).  

22. The requested declaratory and injunctive relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-

2202.  

23. Plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative remedies and are not required to pursue 

additional administrative remedies before seeking and obtaining judicial relief.  

24. An actual case and controversy has arisen and now exists between the parties with 

regard to the AS-IA's violations of the constitutional provisions, statutes and regulations cited herein. 

PARTIES 

25. Plaintiff California Valley Miwok Tribe, also known as the "Sheep Ranch Rancheria," 

the "Sheep Ranch Rancheria of Me-Wuk Indians of California," and the "Sheep Ranch Band of Me-

wuk Indians of the Sheep Ranch Rancheria," is a federally recognized Indian tribe situated in Sheep 

Ranch, California, in Calaveras County.  The Tribe consists of Indian members and their descendants, 

and/or their Indian successors in interest, for whose benefit the United States acquired and created the 

Sheep Ranch Rancheria.  As of April 30, 2011, the membership of the Tribe consisted of 242 adult 

members and their children ("Current Members").  At least 83 members of the Tribe were alive and at 

least 18 years old on November 5, 1998 ("1998 Adult Members"). 

26. Plaintiff Yakima Dixie is the Traditional Spokesperson, and the historical Chairperson, 

of the California Valley Miwok Tribe and a member of its Tribal Council.  Miwok tribes use the term 

"spokesperson" rather than "chief" to describe their traditional leaders, reflecting the Miwok tradition 

of consensus-based government. 
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27. Plaintiff Tribal Council is the legitimate governing body of the Tribe as recognized by a 

majority of Tribal members.  The Council consists of Mr. Dixie and Tribe members Velma Whitebear, 

Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson, Antone Azevedo, Shirley Wilson and Iva 

Carsoner.   

28. Plaintiffs Velma WhiteBear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and 

Antone Azevedo are members of the Tribe and of the Tribal Council.  Each is a lineal descendant of a 

historical member or members of the Tribe.  

29. Defendant Ken Salazar is the Secretary of the United States Department of the Interior.  

Mr. Salazar is responsible for the supervision of the various federal agencies and bureaus within the 

Department, including the BIA.  Mr. Salazar is an officer or employee of the United States and has a 

direct statutory duty to carry out the provisions of the IRA and other relevant laws.  Mr. Salazar is 

sued in his official capacity only.   

30. Defendant Larry Echo Hawk is the AS-IA of the Department and head of the Bureau of 

Indian Affairs.  Mr. Echo Hawk issued the August 31 Decision that is challenged in this action.  Mr. 

Echo Hawk is sued in his official capacity only.   

31. Michael Black is the Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs within the Department.  

Mr. Black is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the BIA, including its relations with federally 

recognized Indian tribes.  Mr. Black is sued in his official capacity only.   

RELEVANT FACTS 

Tribal History and Membership 

32. In 1915, a United States Indian Service official discovered a small cluster of Miwok 

Indians living in or near Sheep Ranch, California, which was a remnant of a once-larger band.  In 1916 

the United States purchased approximately one acre of land near Sheep Ranch and created the Sheep 
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Ranch Rancheria for the benefit of those Indians.  The United States subsequently recognized the 

Sheep Ranch Band of Me-wuk Indians as a federal Indian tribe.   

33. The initial members of the Tribe were those listed in the 1915 Sheep Ranch Indian 

census.  Their names were: Peter Hodge, Annie Hodge, Malida Hodge, Lena Hodge, Tom Hodge, 

Andy Hodge, Jeff Davis, Betsey Davis, Mrs. Limpey, John Tecumchey, Pinkey Tecumchey and 

Mamy Duncan.  Peter Hodge was their leader.   

34. In 1935, the United States held an election in which Tribal members voted on whether 

to accept or reject the application of the IRA to the Tribe.  The United States' 1935 IRA approved 

voter list for the Tribe listed one Tribe member: Jeff Davis.   

35. The individuals listed in the 1915 Sheep Ranch Indian census and in the 1935 IRA 

approved voter list for the Tribe were members of the Tribe. 

36. The lineal descendants of the individuals listed in the 1915 Sheep Ranch Indian census 

and in the 1935 IRA approved voter list for the Tribe were, and are, members of the Tribe at all times 

relevant to this litigation. 

The Indian Reorganization Act 

37. The Tribe voted to accept the IRA in 1935.   

38. The IRA allows Indian tribes to "organize," or form a tribal government, by adopting a 

written constitution or other governing documents.  Successful organization allows a tribe to establish 

government-to-government relations with the United States and with state and local governments.   

39. For Tribes that have accepted it, the IRA establishes procedural and substantive 

requirements for organization.  These requirements include notice, a defined process, and minimum 

levels of participation by a tribe’s members. 

40. Under the IRA, the Secretary has a duty to ensure that the Department recognizes only 

a legitimate tribal government that reflects the participation and consent of a majority of the Tribe’s 
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membership.  This duty is informed and strengthened by the United States’ trust obligations to Indian 

tribes and their members.   

The California Rancheria Act and Failure to Terminate the Tribe 

41. In 1958, Congress enacted the California Rancheria Act, which authorized the 

Secretary to terminate the lands and trust status of enumerated Indian tribes on California Rancherias 

under certain conditions.   

42. The Tribe was never terminated pursuant to the California Rancheria Act.  The United 

States has recognized the Tribe as an Indian Tribe since its inception and continues to do so.   

The Invalid 1998 Resolution 

43. The 1998 Resolution recites that it was signed by a majority of the Tribe's adult 

members. That is incorrect.  A “majority” means more than one-half.  Only two people signed the 

1998 Resolution. 

44. The 1998 Resolution identified four Tribal members who were adults in 1998: Yakima 

Dixie, Melvin Dixie, Silvia Burley and Rashel Reznor.  The 1998 Resolution did not state that these 

were the only members of the Tribe.  It recited that that Tribe consisted of "at least" those members. 

The identification of the Burleys as members was incorrect because Yakima Dixie did not have the 

authority to enroll them into the Tribe without the consent of the Tribe's existing members. 

45. The 1998 Adult Members were also members of the Tribe in November 1998.  There 

were also many other members in 1998 who have died since then.  Except for Yakima Dixie, none of 

the 1998 Adult members or the now-deceased members signed the 1998 Resolution. 

46. Neither Melvin Dixie nor any of the 1998 Adult Members (except for Yakima Dixie) or 

the now-deceased members received actual or constructive notice of the 1998 Resolution prior to its 

adoption or were provided with an opportunity to participate in the process of drafting or voting on the 

1998 Resolution.  Most or all of these members were living in the vicinity of the Sheep Ranch 
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Rancheria in 1998, were readily identifiable as Tribal members, and were known or should have been 

known to the BIA.   

47. The 1998 Resolution was invalid and of no force and effect because it was adopted 

without notice to, participation by, or consent of a majority of the Tribe's adult members.   

Burley Seeks Control of the Tribe 

48. Shortly after her purported enrollment, Ms. Burley sought to take control of the Tribe. 

The 1998 Resolution named Mr. Dixie as the Tribe's chairperson.  But in April 1999, Burley claimed 

that she was the Chairperson.  That claim was and is false. 

49. Burley submitted proposed Tribal constitutions to the BIA in 1999, 2000 and 2001.  

The constitutions would have limited Tribal membership to the Burleys, their descendants and, in 

some cases, Mr. Dixie.  No Tribal member except for the Burleys had any part in the development or 

ratification of these constitutions. 

50. The BIA did not approve any of the constitutions that Burley submitted.  

 
 

The BIA Rejects Burley’s 2004 Constitution  

51. Burley submitted another proposed constitution to the BIA in February 2004, 

purportedly to demonstrate that the Tribe was already organized with Ms. Burley as its leader.    

52. Although Burley had acknowledged in federal court in 2002 that the Tribe had a 

potential citizenship of "nearly 250 people,” her proposed constitution recognized only five members.  

53. In a March 26, 2004 letter to Burley, the BIA declined to approve her latest 

constitution.  The BIA explained that efforts to organize a Tribe must reflect the involvement of the 

whole tribal community:  

Where a tribe that has not previously organized seeks to do so, BIA also has a 
responsibility to determine that the organizational efforts reflect the involvement of the 
whole tribal community.  We have not seen evidence that such general involvement 
was attempted or has occurred with the purported organization of your tribe.  . . . To our 
knowledge, the only persons of Indian descent involved in the tribe's organization 
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efforts, were you and your two daughters . . ..  It is only after the greater tribal 
community is initially identified that governing documents should be drafted and the 
Tribe's base roll and membership criteria identified. 

The BIA's letter identified several groups of Tribe members and segments of the tribal community 

who should be involved in the initial organization efforts.   

54. The BIA's letter stated that "the BIA does not yet view [the Tribe] to be an 'organized' 

Indian Tribe" and that, because the Tribe was unorganized, the BIA could not recognize Burley as the 

Tribe's chairperson.   

55. On February 11, 2005, the AS-IA sent a letter to Mr. Dixie and Burley in which he 

reiterated many of the decisions made in the BIA's March 26, 2004 letter.  The AS-IA stated:  

In that [2004] letter, the BIA made clear that the Federal government did not recognize 
Ms. Burley as the tribal Chairman.  . . . Until such time as the Tribe has organized, the 
Federal government can recognize no one, including yourself, as the tribal Chairman.  I 
encourage you . . . to continue your efforts to organize the Tribe along the lines outlined 
in the March 26, 2004 letter so that the Tribe can become organized and enjoy the full 
benefits of Federal recognition.  The first step in organizing the Tribe is identifying 
putative tribal members. 

56. The AS-IA's 2005 letter made clear that the BIA's rejection of Ms. Burley's constitution 

implicitly encompassed any and all tribal governing documents submitted prior to that date, and any 

purported Tribal government created by any such documents: "In light of the BIA's letter of March 26, 

2004 . . . the BIA does not recognize any Tribal government . . .." (emphasis added).   

57. After the AS-IA's 2005 determination, the BIA sought to work with Mr. Dixie's Tribal 

Council and the Tribe to complete the organization process.  Mr. Dixie and the BIA invited Burley to 

participate, but she again refused and instead filed suit challenging the AS-IA's decision.     

The District Court and Court of Appeals Uphold the BIA's Decision 

58. In April 2005, Burley filed suit in the federal district court for the District of Columbia, 

in the name of the Tribe.  The suit challenged the BIA's rejection of the constitution submitted by 

Burley and its refusal to recognize any governing documents or governing body of the Tribe.  Burley 
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sought a judgment that the Tribe had the inherent sovereign authority to adopt governing documents 

outside of the IRA and that the Tribe was lawfully organized pursuant to that authority.  Burley did not 

contest the BIA's specific decision not to recognize her as the Tribal Chairperson.    

59. The district court dismissed Burley's claims in March 2006.  The court noted that the 

Burleys had submitted a constitution that "conferred tribal membership only upon them and their 

descendants . . . [but] the government estimates that the greater tribal community, which should be 

included in the organization process, may exceed 250 members."   The court found that the Secretary 

has "a responsibility to ensure that [she] deals only with a tribal government that actually represents 

the members of a tribe" and that the BIA has a "duty to ensure that the interests of all tribe members 

are protected during organization and that governing documents reflect the will of a majority of the 

Tribe's members."  California Valley Miwok Tribe, supra, 424 F.Supp.2d 197.  This is true "whether 

or not [a tribe] choose[s] to organize under the IRA procedures [of section 476(a)]."  The court found 

the BIA's decisions consistent with that duty. 

60. Burley challenged the district court's decision, and the Court of Appeals for the District 

of Columbia Circuit affirmed.  California Valley Miwok Tribe, supra, 515 F.3d 1262.  According to 

the Court of Appeals, the rejection of the Burley government and constitution fulfilled a cornerstone of 

the United States’ trust obligation to Indian tribes: to "promote a tribe's political integrity, which 

includes ensuring that the will of tribal members is not thwarted by rogue leaders when it comes to 

decisions affecting federal benefits."   

61. The Court of Appeals further explained:  

In Burley's view, the Secretary has no role in determining whether a tribe has properly 
organized itself . . ..  That cannot be.  . . . [T]he Secretary has the power to manage “all 
Indian affairs and all matters arising out of Indian relations.” . . . The exercise of this 
authority is especially vital when, as is the case here, the government is determining 
whether a tribe is organized, and the receipt of significant federal benefits turns on the 
decision.  The Secretary suggests that her authority . . . includes the power to reject a 
proposed constitution that does not enjoy sufficient support from a tribe's membership.  
Her suggestion is reasonable, particularly in light of the federal government's unique 
trust obligation to Indian tribes. (Emphasis in original.)   
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The court concluded:  

Although [the Tribe], by its own admission, has a potential membership of 250, only 
Burley and her small group of supporters had a hand in adopting her proposed 
constitution.  This antimajoritarian gambit deserves no stamp of approval from the 
Secretary.   

The Department's Representations in Federal Court  

62. In its brief to the D.C. Circuit, the United States Department of Justice, on behalf of the 

Department of the Interior, stated, inter alia: 

[T]he Burley Government does not dispute that the vast majority of the potential 
membership of the Tribe did not have an opportunity to participate in the election of 
Burley as chairperson or in the adoption of the government documents.  Instead, the 
Burley Government argues that BIA was required, under 25 U.S.C. § 476(h), to 
recognize the Tribe as organized, and to recognize the Burley Government and its 
proffered governing documents, notwithstanding this lack of participation.  The district 
court properly rejected this argument, reasoning that while Section 476(h) recognizes 
the "inherent sovereign power" of "each Indian tribe" to "adopt governing documents 
under procedures other than those specified in" the IRA, Section 476(h) does not 
eliminate the IRA's requirements that governing documents be ratified by a majority 
vote of the adult members of the tribe.   

63. The United States further stated in its brief:  

Section 476(h) does not impose a duty on BIA to recognize a tribal government or 
governing documents where, as here, they are adopted without the consent or 
participation of a majority of the tribal community.  Nothing in Section 476(h) suggests 
that Congress intended to alter the substantive standards that apply when a tribe seeks 
to organize, including Section 476(a)(1)'s requirement that governing documents be 
"ratified by a majority of adult members of the tribe."  In addition, for an "Indian tribe" 
to organize under the IRA, action by the tribe as a whole is required; action by an 
unrepresentative faction is insufficient. 

  The government added that "nothing in Section 476(h) limits the Secretary's broad authority – 

independent of the IRA – to ensure the legitimacy of any purported tribal government that seeks to 

engage in that government-to-government relationship with the United States" (emphasis added).     

64. The government also stated in its brief that "the Burley Government [cannot] speak[] 

for the Tribe in the exercise of [the Tribe's] sovereign power . . . because the undisputed facts show 
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that the Burley Government was elected, and its governing documents adopted, by just three people 

and without the participation of the vast majority of the potential members of the Tribe." 

Mr. Dixie's Efforts to Organize the Tribe 

65. While the Burleys were attempting to limit the Tribe to their immediate family, Mr. 

Dixie and other Tribal members began to identify and bring together all of the Tribe's members.  

Beginning in 2003, they held open meetings of the Tribe's membership each month, which have been 

held ever since.  They also formed the Tribal Council.   

66. The Council met with the BIA in September 2003 and requested that the BIA call an 

election pursuant to the IRA to adopt a Tribal constitution and establish government-to-government 

relations with the United States.  The BIA did not act on the Council's request but continued to meet 

regularly with Mr. Dixie and the Council to discuss efforts to organize the Tribe.   

67. With the support and participation of the Tribe's members, the Tribal Council has met 

approximately every other month since its formation to discuss Tribal policy, enact resolutions, and 

conduct other Tribal business.  The Council has made great strides in rebuilding a functioning Tribal 

community.  Since at least 2004, the Tribe and its members have engaged in a variety of cultural, 

religious, economic and social activities that benefit the full Tribal membership, strengthen the Tribal 

community and restore historic ties with the larger Indian community.  Tribal activities include:   

a. The Tribe intervenes in child custody proceedings under the Indian Child 

Welfare Act, on behalf of children of Tribe members.  In those cases where a child is removed from its 

family, the Tribe seeks to have the child placed with an Indian family or a family with ties to Indian 

traditions, so that the child is not deprived of its cultural heritage and place in the Indian community.  

Burley has opposed the Tribe's efforts in these cases. 

b. The California Native American Heritage Commission has recognized the 

Tribe’s Cultural Preservation Committee.  Several Tribe members have been trained to serve as 
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cultural monitors on behalf of the Tribe and have performed monitoring at construction sites that may 

affect Native American cultural and religious artifacts. 

c. The Tribe participates, with other Miwok tribes, in an intertribal Miwok 

Language Restoration Group that teaches the Miwok language to younger tribe members so that the 

language and the tribal traditions are not lost.  Plaintiff Evelyn Wilson is the senior Miwok member 

who still speaks the Miwok language. 

d. The Sheep Ranch Rancheria Me-wuk Dancers ("Me-wuk Dancers"), a 

ceremonial Indian dance and cultural preservation group, represent the Tribe at native American 

events throughout California.  Tribe members Gilbert Ramirez and his son Pete Ramirez organized the 

Me-wuk Dancers group at the request of Tribal elders.  The Me-wuk Dancers play an important role in 

preserving the language, cultural identity and religious traditions of the Tribe.    

e. The Tribe has been negotiating with the United States Forest Service ("USFS") 

regarding construction of a traditional Indian "brush house" on USFS land near the Tribe's ancestral 

village.  A brush house is an open-roofed building for conducting dances and other traditional 

ceremonies.  It is a key element in Indian cultural and religious traditions, equivalent to a tribe's 

church.  

f. Since 2004, the Tribe has been participating in the Calaveras Healthy Impact 

Products Solutions project ("CHIPS"), a community supported project that seeks to reduce wildfire 

hazards to local communities while providing economic opportunity for local workers.  CHIPS 

received a grant from the United States Department of Agriculture in 2007 to support retraining for 

workers to participate in new jobs within the forestry and vegetation control industry.  Among other 

things, CHIPS has trained Native American workers, including Tribe members, to perform restoration 

work on federal lands that contain sensitive Native American heritage resources.    
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g. Through CHIPS and the Amador-Calaveras Consensus Group ("ACCG"), a 

community coalition, the Tribe has been engaged in efforts to participate in the USFS Collaborative 

Forest Landscape Restoration Program ("CFLRP").  Participation in the CFLRP would allow local 

workers to work with the USFS and Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") on landscape restoration 

and forest stewardship projects.  In particular, the USFS is seeking Native American crews (such as 

those trained by CHIPS) to participate in programs to reintroduce fire as a management technique on 

federal lands with sensitive Native American heritage resources.  The participation of the Tribe is 

important to the success of the community's CFLRP proposal.    

h. Tribe members gather certain materials, such as raptor feathers, that are needed 

for cultural and religious ceremonies.  Only members of Indian tribes can legally possess these 

materials.  Tribe members also gather materials, such as native plants and willow roots, used in 

traditional crafts such as basket weaving, and offer classes in those crafts to ensure that the skills are 

not lost.   

i. The Tribe participates in the annual Salmon Distribution Project in which it 

obtains several tons of fresh salmon from the Oroville Dam hatchery and distributes it to Tribe 

members.   

j. The Tribe is involved in Indian health services, emergency services and food 

distribution programs, including the MACT Indian health services program, that benefit members of 

the Tribe and other Indian tribes. 

68. In 2006, the Tribal Council adopted a Tribal constitution, which established that the 

Tribe's first priority was to identify and enroll all Tribal members—i.e., those who are lineal 

descendants of one or more historical members of the Tribe, as documented by personal genealogies, 

birth records and other documents.  Under the Council's leadership, the Tribe has identified several 

hundred members who wish to participate in the organization of the Tribe.  The Tribal roster as of 
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April 30, 2011, consists of 242 adult members and approximately 350 children under the age of 18.  

Each of these members is a lineal descendant of one or more historical members of the Tribe, as 

documented by personal genealogies, birth records and other records.   

69. Since 2006, the members of the Tribe have devoted countless hours to drafting a 

revised constitution through an open and transparent process.  The contents of the constitution have 

been read and debated in many Tribal meetings, including special meetings called specifically for that 

purpose.  All such meetings were open to the entire Tribal community.  The Tribe has provided the 

Burleys with notice and an opportunity to participate, but they refused to do so.  

70. On July 26, 2011, the Tribe adopted Resolution 2011-07-16(b), establishing an Election 

Committee and providing for voter registration in order to facilitate a Tribal election to adopt and 

ratify the revised constitution.  The Tribe provided the Assistant Secretary and the BIA with notice of 

Resolution 2011-07-16(b) and of its intent to hold an election. The only action that remains to 

complete the Tribal organization process is final ratification and adoption of the constitution by the 

entire Tribal membership.  The Tribe plans on holding an election for that purpose, consistent with the 

IRA.   

The BIA Attempts to Assist the Tribe In Organizing 

71. On November 6, 2006, after the district court had dismissed Burley's claims, the BIA 

informed Ms. Burley that it would assist the Tribe in organizing according to majoritarian principles, 

consistent with the decisions upheld by the court.  

72. Ms. Burley appealed the Superintendent's November 6, 2006 decision to the BIA's 

Pacific Regional Director.  On April 2, 2007, the Regional Director affirmed the decision and 

remanded the matter back to the Superintendent to implement the actions mentioned in the 

November 6, 2006 decision.  The Regional Director wrote, "We believe the main purpose [of the 

November 6, 2006 decision] was to assist the Tribe in identifying the whole community, the ‘putative’ 
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group, who would be entitled to participate in the Tribe's efforts to organize a government that will 

represent the Tribe as a whole.  . . . It is our belief that until the Tribe has identified the ‘putative’ 

group, the Tribe will not have a solid foundation upon which to build a stable government."   

73. On April 10 and April 17, 2007, the BIA published public notice of an upcoming 

meeting to organize the Tribe.  The notice requested that Putative Members submit documentation of 

their membership claim to the BIA (e.g., personal genealogies).  The public notice defined the Putative 

Members as lineal descendants of: (1) individuals listed on the 1915 Indian Census of Sheep-ranch 

Indians; (2) individuals listed as eligible voters on the federal government’s 1935 IRA voting list for 

the Rancheria; and (3) individuals listed on the plan for distribution of the assets of Sheep Ranch 

Rancheria (which included only Mabel Hodge Dixie). 

74. According to the BIA, approximately 580 persons submitted personal genealogies to 

the BIA in response to the April 2007 public notices.  Plaintiffs Velma Whitebear, Antonia Lopez, 

Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antone Azevedo each submitted genealogies and other 

documentation to the BIA in response to the public notices.  None of the Burleys submitted 

documentation in response to the public notices.  The BIA has not released the genealogies or the 

results of its analysis of the information submitted.  The Tribe has separately obtained genealogies 

from each of its members.   

Burley Attempts to Re-Litigate Her Claims Before the Board 

75. Burley appealed the Regional Director's April 2, 2007 decision to the Interior Board of 

Indian Appeals. 

76. In January 2010, the Board decided Burley's appeal.  The Board recognized that the 

AS-IA’s February 11, 2005 decision and the ensuing federal litigation had already finally determined 

the following issues: (1) that the BIA did not recognize the Tribe as being organized; (2) that the BIA 

did not recognize any tribal government that represents the Tribe; (3) that the Tribe’s membership was 
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not necessarily limited to the Burleys and Yakima Dixie; and (4) that the BIA had an obligation to 

ensure that a “greater tribal community” was allowed to participate in organizing the Tribe.  The 

Board recognized that, to the extent Burley's appeal attempted to relitigate those issues, it had no 

jurisdiction over her claims.  Accordingly, the Board dismissed all of Burley's claims (including those 

claims not discussed here), except for a single, narrow issue.    

77. According to the Board, the Burley appeal raised a solitary issue that had not already 

been decided by the AS-IA: the process for deciding "who BIA will recognize, individually and 

collectively, as members of the 'greater tribal community' that BIA believes must be allowed to 

participate in the general council meeting of the Tribe for organizational purposes."  The Board 

erroneously characterized this as a "tribal enrollment dispute," because it failed to recognize that the 

lineal descendants of historical Tribal members are already Tribal members and therefore that the 

BIA’s 2007 proposed assistance with Tribal organization would not confer membership on these 

people.  Because it lacks jurisdiction over “enrollment disputes,” the Board referred the issue to the 

AS-IA for resolution.   

The AS-IA’s August 31 Decision 

78. The AS-IA issued his initial decision in the Burley appeal on December 22, 2010.  

Plaintiffs challenged the December 22 Decision before this Court, and the AS-IA withdrew the 

decision on April 1, 2011.  The AS-IA stated in his April 1 letter that he planned to issue a new 

decision.   

79. On April 6, 2011, in a related California state court proceeding, attorneys for Ms. 

Burley stated in open court that they had been informed that the AS-IA planned to issue a new 

decision reaffirming the substance of the December 22 Decision and making that decision invulnerable 

to legal challenge. 
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80. After briefing by Ms. Burley and the Plaintiffs, the AS-IA issued his August 31 

Decision on August 31, 2011.   

81. In the August 31 Decision, the AS-IA reached substantially the same conclusions as he 

had in his December 22 Decision, again purporting to decide issues long settled and not subject to 

further appeal.  Contrary to the Court of Appeals ruling, the AS-IA declared that the Tribe can 

organize itself without complying with the IRA; that the Tribe has already established a valid 

government under the 1998 Resolution, which was signed by only two people; and that the United 

States must carry on government-to-government relations with Burley's anti-majoritarian council.  In 

addition, the AS-IA grossly exceeded his authority over Tribal matters by purporting to determine that 

the membership of the Tribe is limited to five people, and by erroneously characterizing the other 242 

members of the Tribe as "potential," rather than actual, members. 

Consequences of the Secretary’s Unlawful Decision  

82. As a result of the AS-IA’s unlawful August 31 Decision, the Plaintiffs have suffered 

and will continue to suffer great injury, including but not limited to the following: 

83. Plaintiffs have been and will be denied the benefits of Tribe membership.   

a. The August 31 Decision finds that "the citizenship of the [Tribe] consists solely 

of Yakima Dixie, Silvia Burley, Rashel Reznor, Anjelica Paulk, and Tristian Wallace.1"  Thus, 

individual Plaintiffs (except for Mr. Dixie) are denied membership in the Tribe by the decision.  

Denial of Tribal membership is a violation of fundamental rights. 

b. The August 31 Decision gives the Burleys complete control over Tribal 

membership and governance, including the power to exclude Mr. Dixie from membership.  The 

Burleys have already purported to disenroll Mr. Dixie once, in 2005, although it purported to re-enroll 

him in 2009 for litigation purposes.   

                                              
1 Reznor, Paulk and Wallace are Burley's daughters and granddaughter, respectively. 
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84. As a result of the August 31 Decision, Plaintiffs are denied their rightful place in the 

larger Indian community and culture. 

85. As a result of the August 31 Decision, Plaintiffs are not and will not be eligible to 

receive federal health, education and other benefits provided to members of recognized Indian Tribes. 

86. As a result of the August 31 Decision, Plaintiffs have been and will be denied the 

opportunity to participate in the organization and governance of the Tribe.   

a. Because the August 31 Decision erroneously finds that individual Plaintiffs 

(except for Mr. Dixie) are not members of the Tribe, it denies deny them any role in the organization 

of the Tribe.  Indeed, the August 31 Decision specifically finds that none of the Tribe's members 

except for the Burleys and Mr. Dixie have any citizenship rights, including the right to participate in 

the Tribe's government.  

b. The August 31 Decision finds that the Tribe "is not required to 'organize' in 

accord with the procedures of the IRA" and that its general council as defined under the 1998 

Resolution is "vested with the full authority of the Tribe, and may conduct the full range of 

government-to-government relations with the United States.”  Because the Decision disavows any 

requirement that the Tribe form a government that is representative of its entire membership, neither 

Plaintiffs nor any of the Tribe's other members will ever have the opportunity to participate in the 

Tribe's self-government.    

87. By denying Plaintiffs' membership in the Tribe and recognizing the Burley government 

under the 1998 Resolution, the August 31 Decision strips the Tribal Council of legitimacy and 

interferes with the vital programs that the Council has established to benefit the Tribe and its members, 

strengthen Tribal culture and traditions, and restore Tribal ties with the larger Native American 

community. 
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88. The August 31 Decision, if upheld by the Court, could provide a basis for allowing 

Burley to divert funds held in trust for the Tribe by the State of California.  Beginning in 1999, Burley 

represented to the California Gambling Control Commission (“Commission”) that she was the 

authorized representative of the Tribe and entitled to collect funds paid by the state to tribes that do not 

operate casinos or gaming devices.  Burley received millions of dollars from the Commission, which 

were meant for the Tribe, between 1999 and 2005 (the “State Funds”).   

a. None of the Plaintiffs received any of the State Funds.  The Plaintiffs do not 

know of any members of the Tribe who received or benefited from any of the State Funds except for 

Burley and her immediate family.  The Plaintiffs do not know of any programs for the benefit of the 

Tribe or its members that were created or supported with the Funds.   

b. In 2005, the Commission ceased distribution of the State Funds to Burley on the 

ground that the federal government did not recognize her as the appropriate representative of the 

Tribe. Burley has filed litigation in California Superior Court, seeking to compel the Commission to 

resume distribution of the State Funds to her, including approximately $7.5 million of the State Funds 

that the Commission has withheld since 2005.  See California Valley Miwok Tribe v. California 

Gambling Control Commission, No. 37-2008-00075326 (Sup. Ct. San Diego).  Burley seeks to 

introduce the August 31 Decision as evidence that she is entitled to receive the State Funds.   

c. If Burley receives the State Funds, Mr. Dixie and the members of the Tribal 

Council will be denied the benefit of the State Funds, because the State of California has no control 

over the use of the State Funds once they are paid to a tribe. 

d. If Ms. Burley receives the State Funds, the Tribe will be denied the Funds, 

because Ms. Burley is not a legitimate representative of the Tribe. 

89. The August 31 Decision will allow Burley to divert federal funds intended for the 

Tribe.  Beginning in 1999, and continuing through 2007, Burley received federal grant money 
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intended for the Tribe, based on her representation that she was an authorized representative of the 

Tribe.  The grant money was provided through a “self-determination contract” pursuant to the Indian 

Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act, 25 U.S.C. § 450 et seq. ("PL 638”), to assist the 

Tribe in organizing under the IRA.  Burley received as much as $400,000 to $600,000 per year under 

this contract.   

a. Burley did not use the PL 638 funds to organize the Tribe consistent with the 

IRA.  Instead, she sought to disenfranchise Plaintiffs and other members of the Tribal community and 

to secure the benefits of Tribe membership only for herself and her immediate family.  

b. The BIA previously indicated its intent, based on the AS-IA's December 22 

Decision, to enter into a new PL 638 contract with the Burleys. If the August 31 Decision is allowed to 

stand, the Tribe will be denied its rightful use of the PL 638 funds, because those funds will be paid to 

Burley and her illegitimate government instead. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Arbitrary and Capricious Agency Action in Violation of the APA)  

90. Plaintiffs re-allege the above paragraphs and incorporate those paragraphs herein as if 

set forth in full. 

91. The APA provides that a court must hold unlawful and set aside agency action that is 

“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. 

§706(2)(A). 

92. The AS-IA’s August 31 Decision constitutes “final agency action.” 

93. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it unlawfully 

reopened and addressed issues not within the scope or jurisdiction of the Board appeal from which the 

decision arose.  
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94. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because, without reasoned 

decision making or foundation in the record, it reverses judicially approved, longstanding Department 

policy and prior Department determinations regarding the status of the Tribe, the Burley government, 

the application of the IRA to the Tribe, and the Department's obligation to ensure that it deals only 

with legitimate representatives of a tribe's members. 

95. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because the agency failed to 

consider the Plaintiffs' legitimate reliance on Defendants' prior interpretations of their governing 

statutes. 

96. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is unsupported by 

substantial evidence in the record before the agency. 

97. The August 31 Decision is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise 

not in accordance with law because BIA failed to carry out its duty to ensure that the interests of all 

Tribal members were protected during the process for organizing the Tribe and choosing its 

leadership, and to ensure that the governing documents for the Tribe reflect the will of a majority of 

such members. 

98. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is precluded by the 

doctrine of res judicata.  

99. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is barred by the 

doctrine of judicial estoppel.  

100. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is barred by the 

doctrine of litigation estoppel.  

101. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it is inconsistent with 

the IRA. 
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102. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it concludes that the 

Tribe only has five members, relies on the 1998 Resolution which is invalid because it was not 

adopted by a majority of the Tribe's members, and relies on an enrollment of the Burleys into the Tribe 

which was not approved by a majority of the Tribe's members.  

103. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because it abdicates the 

Secretary's fiduciary duty to the Tribe and its members.  Under the IRA, the Secretary has a duty to 

ensure that the Department recognizes only a legitimate tribal government that reflects the 

participation of a majority of the Tribe's membership.  In addition, under section 450J of PL 638, the 

Secretary has a fiduciary duty to ensure that any tribal organization that receives federal funds to 

support tribal government, programs and services actually uses those funds to provide services and 

assistance to the tribe's members in a fair and uniform manner.    

104. The August 31 Decision is arbitrary and capricious because the AS-IA failed to 

consider relevant evidence bearing on the issues before him and ignored evidence contradicting his 

position.  This evidence includes, but is not limited to: 

a. Personal genealogies and other information submitted to the BIA in response to 

the BIA’s 2007 public notice regarding Tribal organization, which demonstrate 

that there are currently several hundred adult members of the Tribe; 

b. The Tribe’s current roster of adult members submitted with Plaintiffs’ May 3, 

2011 briefing, which demonstrates that there are currently several hundred adult 

members of the Tribe; 

c. Information showing that the 1998 Resolution was adopted without the 

participation or consent of a majority of the Tribe’s adult members at that time; 

and 
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d. Evidence of irregularities and improprieties in Burley’s attempt to displace Mr. 

Dixie as Tribal chairperson and take control of the Tribe for herself. 

105. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because, on information and 

belief, the AS-IA and personnel involved in the decisional process for the August 31 Decision engaged 

in improper ex parte contacts with representatives of Ms. Burley prior to the issuance of the August 31 

Decision, and prejudged the issues involved in the August 31 Decision, in violation of the 

Department's regulations at 43 C.F.R. Part 4, including 43 C.F.R. section 4.27.  

106. The August 31 Decision violates APA section 706(2)(A) because, on information and 

belief, the AS-IA and personnel involved in the decisional process for the August 31 Decision engaged 

in improper ex parte contacts prior to the issuance of the August 31 Decision with BIA employees or 

representatives who represented the BIA in Ms. Burley's appeal before the Board, and prejudged the 

issues involved in the August 31 Decision, in violation of the Department's regulations at 43 C.F.R. 

Part 4, including 43 C.F.R. section 4.27.   

107. As a direct and proximate result of the August 31 Decision, Mr. Dixie, Velma 

Whitebear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antone Azevedo have been and 

will continue to be denied the benefits of Tribe membership and will suffer irreparable injury and 

financial loss. 

108. As a direct and proximate result of the August 31 Decision, Mr. Dixie, the Tribal 

Council, and Velma Whitebear, Antonia Lopez, Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antone 

Azevedo have been and will continue to be denied their rightful opportunity to participate in the 

organization and governance of the Tribe and will suffer irreparable injury and financial loss. 

109. As a direct and proximate result of the August 31 Decision, the Tribe, the Tribal 

Council and the members of the Tribe, including Mr. Dixie, Velma Whitebear, Antonia Lopez, 

Michael Mendibles, Evelyn Wilson and Antone Azevedo, have been and will continue to be denied the 
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use of the PL 638 funds available through the BIA, and the State Funds provided by the Commission, 

and will suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.   

110. As a direct and proximate result of the August 31 Decision, the Tribe and its members 

will be denied recognition to conduct traditional Tribal activities and official acts, and to intervene in 

legal and regulatory proceedings to protect the Tribe's interests and those of its members, and will 

suffer irreparable injury and financial loss.   

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of Substantive Due Process) 
 

111. Plaintiffs re-allege the above paragraphs and incorporate those paragraphs herein as if 

set forth in full. 

112. The August 31 Decision violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution because it arbitrarily deprives Plaintiffs of their fundamental rights as 

Tribal members, including the rights to Tribal citizenship, political representation, and self-

government.  Because the August 31 Decision knowingly and deliberately strips Plaintiffs of these 

rights without regard for bedrock principles of democratic self-government and majority rule, the AS-

IA's egregious conduct shocks the conscience and must be reversed. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of Procedural Due Process) 
 

113. Plaintiffs re-allege the above paragraphs and incorporate those paragraphs herein as if 

set forth in full. 

114. The August 31 Decision violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution because it erroneously deprives Plaintiffs of constitutionally protected 

liberty and property interests without adequate procedural protections, including a pre-deprivation 

hearing.  These interests include, but are not limited to, the right to education, health and other benefits 
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to which individual Plaintiffs are entitled as members of the Tribe, and the right to the State Funds and 

the PL 638 funds to which the Tribe is legally entitled.   

115. The August 31 Decision violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution because, on information and belief, the AS-IA and/or other Department 

personnel involved in the decisional process for the August 31 Decision engaged in improper ex parte 

contacts with representatives of Ms. Burley prior to the issuance of the August 31 Decision and 

prejudged the issues involved in the Decision. 

116. The August 31 Decision violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution because, on information and belief, the AS-IA and/or other Department 

personnel involved in the decisional process for the August 31 Decision engaged in improper ex parte 

contacts prior to the issuance of the August 31 Decision with BIA employees or representatives who 

represented the BIA in Ms. Burley's appeal before the Board, and prejudged the issues involved in the 

Decision.   

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the Indian Civil Rights Act) 

117. Plaintiffs re-allege the above paragraphs and incorporate those paragraphs herein as if 

set forth in full. 

118. The August 31 Decision violates the Indian Civil Rights Act, 25 U.S.C. 1301 et seq., 

(“ICRA”) because, by recognizing the 1998 Resolution and Burley government, it deprives Plaintiffs 

and other Tribal members of fundamental political rights and protected liberty and property interests 

without due process of law.  

119. The August 31 Decision violates the ICRA because, by recognizing the 1998 

Resolution and Burley government, it denies individual Plaintiffs and other Tribal members equal 
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protection by depriving them of fundamental rights that are granted to other Tribal members, without a 

legitimate basis.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court issue an order: 

A. Vacating and setting aside the August 31 Decision as arbitrary, capricious, unsupported 

by substantial evidence in the record, an abuse of discretion and otherwise not in accordance with law; 

B. Declaring that the Secretary (acting through his subordinate, the AS-IA) violated his 

fiduciary duty to the Tribe and its individual members by adopting the August 31 Decision and 

allowing the Burleys to obtain federal funding intended to benefit the Tribe and its members;  

C. Declaring that the AS-IA's August 31 Decision denied Plaintiffs substantive due 

process; 

D. Declaring that the AS-IA's August 31 Decision denied Plaintiffs procedural due 

process;  

E. Declaring that the AS-IA’s August 31 Decision violated the ICRA by recognizing a 

Tribal governing document and governing body that deprive Plaintiffs and other Tribal members of 

equal protection and due process of law; 

F. Directing the AS-IA and the BIA to establish government-to-government relations only 

with a Tribal government that reflects the participation of the entire Tribal community, including 

individual Plaintiffs and all other Current Members;  

G. Preliminarily and permanently enjoining the Secretary, AS-IA and BIA from taking any 

action to implement the August 31 Decision, including any award of federal funds to the Burleys 

under PL 638 or any other federal law or program; 
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H. Awarding the Plaintiffs damages, and attorneys fees and reasonable costs incurred in 

connection with this action; and 

I. Granting such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
  Respectfully submitted,  
 
 

        /s/ M. Roy Goldberg 
      M. ROY GOLDBERG  

      (D.C. Bar No. 416953) 
      CHRISTOPHER M. LOVELAND  

      (D.C. Bar No. 473969) 
      Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP 
      1300 I Street, N.W., 11th Floor East 
      Washington, DC  20005-3314 
      Tel: (202) 772-5313 
      Fax: (202) 218-0020 
      rgoldberg@sheppardmullin.com 
Dated:  October 17, 2011   cloveland@sheppardmullin.com 
    
Of Counsel: 
 

ROBERT J. URAM (admitted pro hac vice) 
Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP 
Four Embarcadero Center, 17th Floor 
San Francisco, California  94111-4109 
Tel: 415-434-9100 
Fax: 415-434-3947 
ruram@sheppardmullin.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I hereby certify that on October 17, 2011, I caused a true and accurate copy of the 

foregoing First Amended Complaint to be served via first class mail, postage prepaid and via email on 

the following persons:  

Kenneth D. Rooney 
Trial Attorney 
United States Department of Justice  
Environmental and Natural Resources Division 
P.O. Box 663 
Washington, D.C. 20044 
kennethrooney@usdoj.gov 
 
 
Robert A. Rosette, Esq. 
565 West Chandler Boulevard 
Suite 212 
Chandler, Arizona 85225  
rosette@rosettelaw.com 
 
      
   
      
        
      /s/ M. Roy Goldberg 
      M. Roy Goldberg  
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